Warped Conformal Field Theory

Stéphane Detournay[♯], Thomas Hartman[♭] and Diego M. Hofman[♯]*

[#] Center for the Fundamental Laws of Nature, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA

^b Institute for Advanced Study, School of Natural Sciences, Princeton, NJ 08540, USA

* Theory Group, SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory Menlo Park, CA 94025, USA

sdetourn@physics.harvard.edu, hartman@ias.edu, dhofman@slac.stanford.edu

Abstract

We study field theories in two spacetime dimensions invariant under a chiral scaling symmetry that acts only on right-movers. The local symmetries include one copy of the Virasoro algebra and a U(1) current algebra. This differs from the 2d conformal group, but in some respects is equally powerful in constraining the theory. In particular, the symmetries on a torus lead to modular covariance of the partition function, which is used to derive a universal formula for the asymptotic density of states. For an application we turn to the holographic description of black holes in quantum gravity, motivated by the fact that the symmetries in the near horizon geometry of any extremal black hole are identical to those of a 2d field theory with chiral scaling. We consider two examples: black holes in warped AdS_3 in topologically massive gravity, and in string theory. In both cases, the density of states in the 2d field theory reproduces the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of black holes in the gravity theory.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Symmetries	6
	2.1 The algebra	. 6
	2.2 Finite transformations	. 7
	2.3 Unitary representations	. 9
	2.4 States and vacuum energies	. 10
3	Entropy	11
	3.1 Asymptotic Density of states	. 12
	3.2 $SL(2,Z)$. 14
4	Other ensembles and nonlocal algebras	15
5	A holographic example: Topologically Massive Gravity	18
	5.1 Warped AdS	. 19
	5.2 Asymptotic symmetries and thermodynamics	. 20
	5.3 The ensemble \ldots	. 21
	5.4 BTZ-like coordinates	. 23
	5.5 Entropy from warped CFT	. 24
6	An example in string theory	25
	6.1 Lightlike dipole background	. 26
	6.2 Entropy	. 27
7	Discussion	28
Α	Derivation of the Cardy Formula in Ordinary CFT	31
в	Charges in Topologically Massive Gravity	33

1 Introduction

The structure of conformal field theories (CFTs) in two spacetime dimensions is rich enough to determine many properties of the underlying theories. An important example is the number of states at high energy, which is fixed by conformal symmetry and depends only on the central charges in a unitary theory. This result is especially powerful given that in two dimensions, scale invariance implies conformal invariance: any unitary theory with a discrete spectrum and invariant under two dimensional translations, Lorentz transformations and scalings has an enlarged global symmetry group given by $SL(2, R) \times SL(2, R)$ and local symmetries given by two copies of the Virasoro algebra [1]. If we add the requirement of modular invariance for consistency on a torus, we obtain the famous Cardy result for the entropy of a CFT [2]:

$$S_{\rm CFT} = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c_R}{6}L_0} + 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c_L}{6}\bar{L}_0} \ . \tag{1}$$

This universal result helped uncover the deep connection of CFTs to black hole microphysics, a manifestation of gauge/gravity duality, or more specifically the AdS/CFT correspondence [3, 4, 5]. The entropy of asymptotically AdS_3 black holes, as well as that of higher-dimensional black holes with an AdS₃ near-horizon geometry, can be calculated by identifying two copies of the centrally-extended Virasoro algebra in the asymptotic symmetries [6]. The states of the corresponding quantum theory, if it exists, must form representations of that algebra, hence the theory is a 2d CFT. Using the Cardy formula (1) to count the degeneracy of states at high energy reproduces the Bekenstein-Hawking area law for the black hole entropy [7]. Though striking, this derivation does not allow for a precise identification of the corresponding microscopic degrees of freedom, although this can be achieved by a detailed string theory treatment in special circumstances [8, 9].

It is, of course, of interest to extend holography to other spacetimes that are not asymptotically AdS. Much effort has been dedicated to the study of flat (see [10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18] for example) and de Sitter (see e.g. [19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25]) spacetimes, of clear importance for physical applications. Interesting cases studied recently in connection with condensed matter applications are Lifshitz geometries [26, 27] and hyperscaling violating geometries [28]. Unfortunately, in most of these cases, little is known about the putative dual field theory, so it is of interest to find non-AdS examples where we have more information about the structure of the dual.

In this paper we consider 2d QFTs with a chiral scaling symmetry that acts only on right-movers, $x^- \rightarrow \lambda x^-$. In contrast to CFTs, which have a second, independent scaling symmetry $x^+ \to \bar{\lambda}x^+$, we require only translation invariance on the left. A field theoretic study of these symmetries was performed in [29], generalizing the results of [1] and leading to the following conclusion: a 2d translation-invariant theory with a chiral scaling symmetry must have an extended local algebra. There are two minimal options for this algebra. One is the usual CFT case with two copies of the Virasoro algebra. The other possibility is one Virasoro algebra plus a U(1) Kac-Moody algebra.¹ We call this case a Warped Conformal Field Theory (WCFT).

In the first part of this paper, we study these theories from a purely field theoretic viewpoint. The symmetries impose powerful constraints on the theory, much like in CFT. This may seem surprising, because the global symmetries of a WCFT are $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$, a subset of those in CFT. However, the local symmetries include two arbitrary functions worth of freedom in coordinate transformations:

$$x^- \to f(x^-)$$
, $x^+ \to x^+ - g(x^-)$. (2)

These symmetries are used to derive a new type of modular transformation on the torus. Applied to the finite-temperature partition function, the modular transformation relates thermodynamic quantities at slow rotation to those at high rotation. This leads to constraints on the spectrum of a WCFT, and a universal result for the asymptotic entropy:

$$S_{\text{WCFT}} = -\frac{4\pi i P_0 P_0^{vac}}{k} + 4\pi \sqrt{-\left(L_0^{vac} - \frac{(P_0^{vac})^2}{k}\right)\left(L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k}\right)} .$$
 (3)

Here L_0 is the charge associated to the SL(2, R) zero mode, P_0 is the U(1) charge, c and k are the central extensions of the Virasoro + Kac-Moody algebra, and 'vac' labels the vacuum state. This is analogous to the Cardy formula (1) in an ordinary CFT, but is not the same and does not rely on conformal invariance. While the i in the formula above might seem puzzling, we will see that in the examples we will consider S is manifestly real.

Despite this universal result, little is known about these theories in detail, and no nontrivial field theory example is known to have a chiral scaling symmetry.² For this reason, in the second part of the paper when we consider examples we will focus on holographic constructions of WCFTs, which do exist. The global symmetries of a WCFT, $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$, are precisely the isometries that appear in the near horizon geometry of every extremal

¹While holomorphic (ie, chiral) CFTs containing a current exhibit this algebra, the U(1) does not correspond to a spacetime translation. We'll have more comments to make about the connection between these theories below, but they are inequivalent, and the theories considered here do not need to be holomorphic.

 $^{^{2}}$ A trivial example might be constructed by the relevant deformation of a CFT by a current operator. Notice, however, that this deformation is topological and, therefore, does not change the local physics.

black hole, in any number of dimensions. This hints at a role for WCFTs in the holographic description of black holes beyond the realm of AdS.

We will restrict ourselves to the specific example of black holes in warped AdS_3 (WAdS_3). This spacetime is a deformation of AdS_3 that changes the asymptotics but preserves $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$ isometries, so it is a simple testing ground for the holographic construction of WCFTs. Warped AdS is also ubiquitous in extremal black hole geometries; for example, the near horizon geometry of the extremal 4d Kerr black hole at fixed polar angle is WAdS_3. This spacetime is non-Einstein, so one of the simplest theories in which WAdS_3 appears is topologically massive gravity (TMG), 3d gravity with a gravitational Chern-Simons term. Black holes in this theory have been constructed, and their entropy calculated [30, 31, 32, 33]. The result is surprising, as it matches the Cardy formula, even though the full conformal symmetry is not apparent [34].

Further investigation into this matter led to the calculation of the asymptotic symmetry group (ASG) of this spacetime [35, 36, 37, 38, 39]. The result in general may depend on the choice of boundary conditions, but for the only choice that is known to be consistent, it was shown that the symmetries consist not of two copies of the Virasoro algebra, but of one Virasoro algebra and a U(1) current algebra extending the exact isometries. This suggests that the dual theory to WAdS₃, if it exists, should exhibit these symmetries, seemingly at odds with the proposal in [34] that the dual is a CFT. In stringy realizations of WAdS₃, worldsheet results corroborate the ASG analysis [40, 41]. Apparently, if a second Virasoro algebra exists, then it must be hidden in the standard representation of the bulk fields [42].

On the field theory side, it was argued that the holographic duals to these theories can be constructed by flowing to the IR of a dipole-deformed field theory [43, 44], introducing a degree of non-locality in the picture. However, it is unknown how to characterize the theory in the IR.

We will take a complementary approach, exploring the conjecture that the dual field theory is a WCFT. This is not a microscopic definition of the field theory, but because of the powerful constraints imposed by WCFT symmetries, it does allow nontrivial checks. In particular, we show that (3), the universal entropy formula of WCFT, equals the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of warped black holes in TMG and in a stringy realization of WAdS₃.

Perhaps this can be used to shed light on the proposed Kerr/CFT correspondence, in which extremal black holes are related to a 2d CFT [45] (see [46] for a recent review). In that case the Cardy formula (1) reproduces the black hole entropy, despite the fact that the $SL(2, R) \times SL(2, R)$ global symmetry is absent, and modular invariance has no obvious bulk analogue. Although we will not address Kerr directly, we compare the WCFT entropy formula to the Cardy formula and show how they are naturally related by a non-local reparameterization of the WCFT algebra. This partially resolves the puzzle mentioned above, that in warped AdS, TMG behaves like a CFT [34], while the readily available symmetries are those of a WCFT. It also resolves a second puzzle in TMG, that appears for Kerr as well: matching to the Cardy formula in the microcanonical ensemble requires seemingly arbitrary shifts in the zero mode charges. In the WCFT picture, these shifts are fixed unambiguously.

It is worth mentioning, in passing, that this type of approach might prove useful in the analysis of higher spin theories. Here the presence of more general conserved currents forces us to study the problem in a way in which they are all considered equally. In fact, a WCFT can be viewed as a sort of geometrization of U(1) current algebra; in higher spin theory, gauge currents and geometry are also mixed by gauge transformations and should be treated on an equal footing. This type of approach may be a useful way to understand the modular properties of partition functions in these theories, as studied in [47, 48].

The layout of this paper is the following. In section 2 we give a precise definition of what we mean by a Warped Conformal Field Theory. We discuss its algebra and unitary representations. Furthermore we show how the currents transform under finite changes of coordinates. In section 3 we discuss the partition functions of these theories and show they transform nicely under modular transformations. We use this result to obtain an expression for the entropy at large values of the charges (i.e. the asymptotic density of states). In section 4 we discuss a slight generalization of this result to other ensembles and relate this to a nonlocal modification of the WCFT symmetry algebra. It turns out this is the relevant framework to understand certain examples of WCFTs that appear as holographic duals of three dimensional gravitational models and string theory. In section 5 we study the specific case of Topologically Massive Gravity. We review the relevant results from the literature and show that the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of these theories is reproduced by our general expression. Furthermore, we argue these theories cannot be unitary (in the range of couplings we consider and with the standard boundary conditions). In section 6 we discuss a better behaved example coming from string theory. In particular we discuss the example recently discussed in [41] obtained by TsT transformations of $AdS_3 \times S^3$ NS-NS backgrounds [44]. Section 7 provides a discussion of our results. Finally, appendix A outlines the derivation of the Cardy formula in ordinary CFT while appendix B sets conventions by defining charges in TMG.

2 Symmetries

We take as a definition of a Warped Conformal Field Theory (WCFT) the nontrivial minimal case corresponding to the symmetry structure present in a 2d Lorentzian theory with $SL(2, R)_R \times U(1)_L$ global invariance. The results obtained in [29] imply the existence of both a right moving energy momentum tensor and a right moving U(1) Kac Moody current. The zero modes generate the global $SL(2, R)_R$ and $U(1)_L$. It might seem peculiar that a right moving current can generate a left global symmetry but this is precisely the outcome of the calculations in [29] and has also been understood from the gravity and string theory perspective in [37] and [41].

2.1 The algebra

If we consider the theory on the plane, the commutators of these operators are given by [29]:

$$i[T_{\xi}, T_{\zeta}] = T_{\xi'\zeta-\zeta'\xi} + \frac{c}{48\pi} \int dx^{-} \left(\xi''\zeta' - \zeta''\xi'\right)$$

$$i[P_{\chi}, P_{\psi}] = \frac{k}{8\pi} \int dx^{-} \left(\chi'\psi - \psi'\chi\right)$$

$$i[T_{\xi}, P_{\chi}] = P_{-\chi'\xi}$$

$$(4)$$

where we have defined

$$T_{\xi} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx^{-} \xi(x^{-}) T(x^{-}) \quad P_{\chi} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int dx^{-} \chi(x^{-}) P(x^{-})$$
(5)

and $T(x^{-})$ and $P(x^{-})$ are the usual local operators in the plane. We associate right moving with x^{-} and left moving with x^{+} . We furthermore demand that the ground state of the theory is invariant under the action of the global symmetries.

We will be mostly interested in putting this theory on the cylinder. We can describe the cylinder by a complex change of coordinates from the plane. At this point the cylinder theory is Lorentzian with real coordinates and we don't claim that any analytic continuation relates the plane to the cylinder. We will describe the correct relation further on. Let us then consider the change of coordinates

$$x^- = e^{i\phi}. (6)$$

Using the new coordinate ϕ and picking test functions $\xi_n = (x^-)^n = e^{in\phi}$, we can compute

$$[L_{n}, L_{m}] = (n - m)L_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}n(n - 1)(n + 1)\delta_{n+m}$$

$$[P_{n}, P_{m}] = \frac{k}{2}n\delta_{n+m}$$

$$[L_{n}, P_{m}] = -mP_{m+n}$$
(7)

with $L_n = iT_{\xi_{n+1}}$ and $P_n = P_{\chi_n}$.

In what follows we will perform changes of coordinates to obtain the vacuum energy and charge of a theory and also to manipulate the partition function by modular transformations. With this in mind, we need to track the way the anomalies show up in the transformations of T and P. What's more, we need to be able to do this for finite transformations. The procedure is analogous to the one that yields the Schwarzian derivative in standard CFTs.

The commutation relations imply the following infinitesimal transformations of the energy momentum tensor and current:

$$\delta_{\epsilon}T(x^{-}) = -\epsilon(x^{-})\partial_{-}T(x^{-}) - 2\partial_{-}\epsilon(x^{-})T(x^{-}) - \frac{c}{12}\partial_{-}^{3}\epsilon \qquad (8)$$

$$\delta_{\gamma}T(x^{-}) = -\partial_{-}\gamma(x^{-})P(x^{-})$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon}P(x^{-}) = -\epsilon(x^{-})\partial_{-}P(x^{-}) - \partial_{-}\epsilon(x^{-})P(x^{-})$$

$$\delta_{\gamma}P(x^{-}) = \frac{k}{2}\partial_{-}\gamma(x^{-})$$

where we have defined

$$\delta_{\epsilon+\gamma} = \delta_{\epsilon} + \delta_{\gamma} = -i[T_{\epsilon}, \cdot] - i[P_{\gamma}, \cdot].$$
(9)

2.2 Finite transformations

Notice that while $T(x^{-})$ generates infinitesimal general coordinate transformations in x^{-} , $P(x^{-})$ generates gauge transformation in the gauge bundle parameterized by x^{+} . We can think of both these transformations as coordinate transformations of the form

$$x^{-} = f(w^{-})$$
 $x^{+} = w^{+} + g(w^{-})$ (10)

for arbitrary functions f, g. These reduce to $\delta w^- = -\epsilon(w^-)$ and $\delta w^+ = -\gamma(\omega^-)$ when the transformation is infinitesimal. By requiring that the finite transformation laws reduce to these infinitesimal versions and that they also compose appropriately we can uniquely fix:

$$P'(w^{-}) = \frac{\partial x^{-}}{\partial w^{-}} \left[P(x^{-}) + \frac{k}{2} \frac{\partial w^{+}}{\partial x^{-}} \right]$$
(11)

and

$$T'(w^{-}) = \left(\frac{\partial x^{-}}{\partial w^{-}}\right)^{2} \left[T(x^{-}) - \frac{c}{12} \left\{\frac{\partial^{3}w^{-}}{\partial x^{-3}}}{\frac{\partial w^{-}}{\partial x^{-}}} - \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}w^{-}}{\partial x^{-2}}}{\frac{\partial w^{-}}{\partial x^{-}}}\right)^{2}\right\}\right] + \frac{\partial x^{-}}{\partial w^{-}} \frac{\partial x^{+}}{\partial w^{-}} P(x^{-}) - \frac{k}{4} \left(\frac{\partial x^{+}}{\partial w^{-}}\right)^{2}.$$
(12)

Notice that $P(x^{-})$ transforms as a +- tensor as one might have imagined. Let us stress the curious appearance of the current anomaly k in the finite transformation law for $T(x^{-})$. While this term vanishes to linear order and, thus, does not appear in the algebra (7)-(8), it is unavoidable once $P(x^{-})$ mixes with $T(x^{-})$.

Let us now be more specific and specialize this result to a case of interest to us, the mapping from x^- to ϕ coordinates. Furthermore, we can add an arbitrary *tilt* α . The change of coordinates is

$$x^{-} = e^{i\phi}$$
 $x^{+} = t + 2\alpha\phi$. (13)

We will return to the fact this is complex below, but note that in an ordinary CFT, the analogous mapping from the Lorentzian plane to the Lorentzian cylinder is also a complex coordinate transformation. Using the expressions above we get

$$P^{\alpha}(\phi) = ix^{-}P(x^{-}) - k\alpha \tag{14}$$

and

$$T^{\alpha}(\phi) = -x^{-2}T(x^{-}) + \frac{c}{24} + i2\alpha x^{-}P(x^{-}) - k\alpha^{2}$$
(15)

We can define modes on the cylinder as

$$P_n^{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\phi \, P^{\alpha}(\phi) \, e^{in\phi} \qquad \qquad L_n^{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d\phi \, T^{\alpha}(\phi) \, e^{in\phi} \tag{16}$$

In terms of the original modes this is:

$$P_n^{\alpha} = P_n + k\alpha \,\delta_n \qquad \qquad L_n^{\alpha} = L_n + 2\alpha P_n + (k\alpha^2 - \frac{c}{24})\delta_n \tag{17}$$

We can clearly appreciate that (17) is nothing else than the usual shift proportional to the central charge when doing an exponential mapping combined with a spectral flow transformation given by the tilt parameter α .

A related transformation that will be relevant at finite temperature is

$$x^{-} = -\frac{1}{2\pi T_R} e^{-2\pi T_R \phi} , \quad x^{+} = t + 2\alpha \phi .$$
 (18)

In this case,

$$P'(\phi) = -2\pi T_R x^- P(x^-) - k\alpha$$

$$T'(\phi) = (2\pi T_R x^-)^2 T(x^-) - 4\pi T_R \alpha x^- P(x^-) - k\alpha^2 - \frac{c}{6}\pi^2 T_R^2 .$$
(19)

Finally, further on it will be useful to understand the relation between two sets of coordinates on the cylinder in which we change the size and tilt parameter. This is:

$$\phi = \frac{\phi'}{\lambda} \qquad t = t' + 2\frac{\gamma}{\lambda}\phi' . \tag{20}$$

Using once again the expression for the finite transformations (12) and (11) we obtain

$$P'(\phi') = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left[P(\phi) - k\gamma \right] \qquad T'(\phi') = \left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right)^2 \left[T(\phi) + 2\gamma P(\phi) - k\gamma^2 \right] . \tag{21}$$

In particular, this implies the following relation for the generator of translations with respect to the above coordinates:

$$Q[\partial_{t'}] = Q[\partial_t] + k\gamma , \qquad Q[\partial_{\phi'}] = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left(Q[\partial_{\phi}] + 2\gamma Q[\partial_t] + k\gamma^2 \right) . \tag{22}$$

It is very interesting to interpret the meaning of (22). The above formula is just capturing the anomalous terms in the change of coordinates (20). Looking at the generators of symmetries we see that the change of coordinates acts like an ordinary transformation of partial derivatives, plus anomalous terms that need to be calculated as above. This will be of importance when discussing the properties of partition functions of these theories under modular transformations.

2.3 Unitary representations

Now let us study the unitary representations of the WCFT algebra. If we want to demand that $T^{\alpha}(\phi)$ and $P^{\alpha}(\phi)$ should be hermitian we must require

$$L_{-n} = L_n^{\dagger} \qquad P_{-n} = P_n^{\dagger} . \tag{23}$$

We will follow the above convention. Alternatively, one could fix the sign of k and derive the necessary hermiticity conditions compatible with unitarity.

Define primary states as

$$P_n|p,h\rangle = 0 \quad n > 0 \qquad L_n|p,h\rangle = 0 \quad n > 0 \tag{24}$$

and

$$P_0|p,h\rangle = p|p,h\rangle$$
 $L_0|p,h\rangle = h|p,h\rangle$. (25)

Positivity of the states $L_{-n}|p,h\rangle$, $P_{-n}|p,h\rangle$, and $P_{0}|p,h\rangle$ requires

$$c > 0 , \quad k > 0 , \quad h \ge 0 , \quad p \in \mathbb{R} .$$
 (26)

These are not the only constraints coming from unitarity. One can define another energy momentum tensor $T'(x^{-})$ where one subtracts the contribution coming from the Sugawara construction of the U(1) current. In terms of modes, define:

$$L'_{n} = L_{n} - \frac{1}{k} \sum_{m} : P_{n+m} P_{-m}$$
(27)

where :: indicates normal ordering. It is easily checked that the L'_n s are hermitian if the L_n s and P_n s are. Furthermore they commute with P_n s and obey the Virasoro algebra

$$[L'_n, L'_m] = (n-m)L'_{n+m} + \frac{c-1}{12}n(n-1)(n+1)\delta_{n+m} .$$
⁽²⁸⁾

If we now calculate the norm of $L'_{-n}|p,h\rangle$ we find the requirements

$$h \ge \frac{p^2}{k} , \quad c \ge 1 .$$

In summary, we have: k > 0, $p \in \mathbb{R}$, $c \ge 1$ and $h \ge \frac{p^2}{k}$ in order for representations to be unitary with the conventions (23).

2.4 States and vacuum energies

It may happen that on the cylinder, $P_0 \neq 0$ in the vacuum state. By computing the norms of L_n and P_n descendants, now using the cylinder algebra, we can conclude that in a unitary theory,

$$L_0 \ge \frac{P_0^2}{k} - \frac{c}{24} \ . \tag{30}$$

Therefore, it might seem natural to guess that the charges of the vacuum state saturate this bound and can be parameterized as

$$P_0^{\alpha,vac} = k\alpha \qquad L_0^{\alpha,vac} = k\alpha^2 - \frac{c}{24}$$
 (31)

We will now make a more precise statement, and in the process argue that (31) is true even in non-unitary theories as long as the vacuum state is associated to the unit operator.

So far we have been a bit vague about the connection between the theory on the cylinder and the plane and how to interpret the complex change of coordinates (13). We want to define states of a WCFT on the cylinder parameterized by the coordinates ϕ and t. We will do this by analytically continuing ϕ at t = 0. This means that in (13), we can replace the coordinate x^- by z in this new complex plane, capping off the Lorentzian cylinder with a Euclidean disk, and insert an operator at the origin. The vacuum charge of the current P can be interpreted as the fact that the holomorphic theory on the z plane has a nontrivial magnetic flux through the origin. This implies directly that we are forced to consider spectral flowed representations, as generated by the tilt in (13), fixing the value of α above. The upshot is that states in our WCFT are created by the insertion of spectral flowed operators in a holomorphic (i.e. chiral) CFT containing a current P. The chiral CFT must be very special to ensure locality in the U(1) direction.

An important point is that a general spectral flow transformation does not leave the spectrum invariant. In particular, if we start with a theory with a neutral vacuum state in the plane we expect it to pick up background charges. This is nothing other than the effect of a magnetic flux inside the cylinder. Furthermore, because $P(x^-)$ is the current associated with x^+ translations, we expect the spectrum of P_0 to be continuous and bounded below. In this case, the spectral flow always maps the vacuum into the vacuum and does not recover the original spectrum for any α . This is clearly different from the usual case of a compact U(1).

Having said this we are in a position to calculate the charges of the vacuum state on the cylinder using (17). If we assume that the identity operator $L_0 = P_0 = 0$ in our Euclidean chiral CFT is associated to the vacuum state, we obtain (31) as we predicted. The spectral flow parameter α is a property of the theory on the cylinder.

3 Entropy

Consider a WCFT with coordinates (t, ϕ) chosen so that the symmetries are

$$\phi \to f(\phi), \quad t \to t - g(\phi)$$
 (32)

Let us put this theory on a circle of unit radius

$$\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi , \qquad (33)$$

at finite temperature and angular potential. It can be shown, using the same symmetries that will prove useful in this section, that an arbitrary choice of slicing on which we define states can be taken into a circle aligned with the action of L_0 in this way.³

³There is one degenerate case that constitutes the only exception to this statement. If we try to define states at the $\phi = 0$ surface, this amounts to a form of DLCQ, as the *t* coordinate is always light like. In this case one can show by the same arguments of this section that the entropy is independent of the P_0 charge. Curiously, this case might be connected with the understanding of Kerr/CFT [45].

The partition function at inverse temperature β and angular potential θ is

$$Z(\beta,\theta) = \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta P_0 + i\theta L_0}$$
(34)

where the energy and angular momentum are charges generating the translations

$$P_0 = Q[\partial_t] , \quad L_0 = Q[\partial_\phi] . \tag{35}$$

Thermal correlators are periodic under the complex shift

$$(t,\phi) \sim (t+i\beta,\phi+\theta)$$
 . (36)

We are in Lorentzian signature, so this identification should be interpreted as shorthand for the statement that real-time correlators have the specified periodicity as analytic functions of the coordinates. The arguments in this section can also be made in Euclidean signature, with the same results.

3.1 Asymptotic Density of states

Using the Virasoro and Kac-Moody symmetries we can derive a universal formula for the asymptotic density of states of a WCFT, analogous to the Cardy formula in ordinary CFT. Motivated by the usual derivation of the Cardy formula (reviewed in this language in appendix A), we seek a transformation of the form (32) that exchanges the thermal cycle with the angular cycle. This will play the role of a modular transformation. Take the ansatz

$$\phi' = \lambda \phi , \quad t' = t - 2\gamma \phi . \tag{37}$$

The new periodicities are

thermal:
$$(t', \phi') \sim (t' + i\beta - 2\gamma\theta, \phi' + \lambda\theta)$$
 (38)
angular: $(t', \phi') \sim (t' - 4\pi\gamma, \phi' + 2\pi\lambda)$.

Now, choosing

$$\gamma = \frac{i\beta}{2\theta} , \quad \lambda = \frac{2\pi}{\theta} ,$$
 (39)

we find the new identifications

$$(t', \phi') \sim (t', \phi' + 2\pi) \sim (t' + i\beta', \phi' + \theta')$$
 (40)

where

$$\theta' = -\frac{4\pi^2}{\theta} , \quad \beta' = \frac{2\pi\beta}{\theta} .$$
(41)

Therefore, the partition function is invariant — up to an anomaly — under the 'warped modular transformation' (41). The anomaly arises because (37) is not among the global symmetries $SL(2) \times U(1)$. It can be computed by applying (21),

$$T(\phi) = \frac{4\pi^2}{\theta^2} T'(\phi') - \frac{2\pi i\beta}{\theta^2} P'(\phi') + \frac{k\beta^2}{4\theta^2} .$$
(42)

The operator $i \int_0^\theta d\phi T(\phi)$, defined by integrating over the thermal cycle of the original torus, becomes the evolution operator on the new torus. Thus the modular transformation, including the anomaly, is

$$Z(\beta,\theta) = \operatorname{Tr} \exp\left(-\frac{2\pi\beta}{\theta}P_0 - \frac{4\pi^2}{\theta}iL_0 + ik\frac{\beta^2}{4\theta}\right)$$

$$= e^{ik\frac{\beta^2}{4\theta}}Z\left(\frac{2\pi\beta}{\theta}, -\frac{4\pi^2}{\theta}\right).$$
(43)

We have dropped the primes as the spectrum of the primed operators coincides with the original spectrum. We can now derive the density of states at small imaginary θ , because in this slowly-rotating regime the warped modular transformation projects the trace onto the state of minimal L_0 (for real β and P_0 , the first term is just a phase):

$$Z(\beta,\theta) \approx \exp\left(-\frac{2\pi\beta}{\theta}P_0^{vac} - \frac{4\pi^2}{\theta}iL_0^{vac} + ik\frac{\beta^2}{4\theta}\right)$$
(44)

where 'vac' means the state with minimal L_0 (and we have assumed this state has no macroscopic degeneracy). Obviously this makes sense only if L_0 is bounded below, although we will consider another possibility in the following section.⁴

Using the thermodynamic formula $S = (1 - \beta \partial_{\beta} - \theta \partial_{\theta}) \log Z$, the entropy is

$$S = \frac{2\pi i}{\Omega} P_0^{vac} - \frac{8\pi^2}{\beta\Omega} L_0^{vac} , \qquad (45)$$

where the angular potential is related to the angular velocity Ω by

$$\theta = i\beta\Omega \ . \tag{46}$$

In the microcanonical ensemble,

$$S = -\frac{4\pi i P_0 P_0^{vac}}{k} + 4\pi \sqrt{-\left(L_0^{vac} - \frac{(P_0^{vac})^2}{k}\right)\left(L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k}\right)} .$$
(47)

To go any further, we would need to determine L_0^{vac} , P_0^{vac} , which may depend on the particular theory. We have argued in (31) that under reasonable assumptions, the vacuum state

⁴ Note that if L_0 and P_0 have real spectra, then for imaginary θ , the original expression for the partition function (34) is manifestly real. Comparing to (43), this implies that P_0 eigenstates come in positive and negative pairs. On the other hand if P_0 does not come in pairs, then it must have a complex spectrum.

of a WCFT can be usefully parameterized by spectral flowing from the trivial vacuum. Plugging in

$$P_0^{vac} = q , \quad L_0^{vac} = \frac{q^2}{k} - \frac{c}{24} , \qquad (48)$$

the entropy becomes

$$S = -4\pi i \frac{qP_0}{k} + 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c}{6} \left(L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k}\right)} .$$
(49)

This Cardy-like formula is one of our main results. Below, we will compare to WCFTs defined holographically, and use this formula to reproduce the black hole entropy. The entropy formula is valid in the slowly-rotating regime

$$c \gg \beta \Omega , \qquad \frac{\Delta_{gap}}{\beta \Omega} \gg 1 ,$$
 (50)

where Δ_{gap} is the dimension of L_0 where the theory starts to have a large number of operators. One might expect $\Delta_{gap} \sim 1/c$ in a typical theory, which gives the sufficient condition $\frac{1}{\beta\Omega} \gg c \gtrsim 1$, but more generally, the precise domain of validity depends on the spectrum of L_0 .

In the derivation of (49), we assumed that L_0 is bounded below, but we did not assume hermiticity of P_0 or that the theory is unitary. If P_0 is hermitian, then q must vanish so the first term does not appear. If the theory is not unitary, then strictly speaking this is not an entropy since the partition function has negative contributions, but S still measures the asymptotic behavior of Z.

3.2 SL(2, Z)

The warped modular transformation together with other symmetries of the warped CFT actually generate SL(2, Z). To see this, define

$$\tau = \frac{\theta}{2\pi} \tag{51}$$

and note that we have the transformations

$$S: \quad \tau \to -\frac{1}{\tau} \tag{52}$$
$$T: \quad \tau \to \tau + 1$$

where S is the warped modular transformation and T comes from adding the angular circle to the thermal circle. Together these generate SL(2, Z). Under S, the partition function transforms as

$$Z\left(-\frac{1}{\tau},\frac{\beta}{\tau}\right) = e^{-ik\frac{\beta^2}{8\pi\tau}}Z(\tau,\beta) .$$
(53)

This is the transformation rule for a weak Jacobi form, familiar in the context of superconformal field theory from the transformation of the elliptic genus, see e.g. [49].

4 Other ensembles and nonlocal algebras

In this section, we consider a modified algebra where the central term in the U(1) algebra is charge-dependent,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{L}_n & \tilde{L}_m \end{bmatrix} = (n-m)\tilde{L}_{n+m} + \frac{c}{12}(n^3-n)\delta_{n+m}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{L}_n & \tilde{P}_m \end{bmatrix} = -m\tilde{P}_{m+n} + m\tilde{P}_0\delta_{n+m}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{P}_n & \tilde{P}_m \end{bmatrix} = 2n\tilde{P}_0\delta_{m+n} .$$
(54)

The motivation will become apparent when we reach the holographic examples in sections 5 and 6. This form of the algebra also makes it easier to connect our Cardy-like formula (49) to the actual Cardy formula in an ordinary CFT. It is related to the original algebra (7) by redefining charges as

$$\tilde{P}_n = \frac{2}{k} P_0 P_n - \frac{1}{k} P_0^2 \delta_n , \qquad \tilde{L}_n = L_n - \frac{2}{k} P_0 P_n + \frac{1}{k} P_0^2 \delta_n .$$
(55)

For states with vanishing $P_{n\neq 0}$, this amounts to a nonlocal reparameterization of the theory where the time coordinate is rescaled by the total energy,

$$x^{+} = \frac{kt}{2P_0} + \phi , \qquad x^{-} = \phi .$$
 (56)

Indeed, (54) cannot be written as the variations of local currents. Notice, that the above algebra looks like spectral flow by an amount proportional to P_0 as far at the \tilde{L}_n 's go, but it involves a rescaling of the current as was pointed out above. This construction is very reminiscent of the Sugawara construction of a Virasoro algebra from quadratic combinations of Kac-Moody generators. Indeed, if one looks at (54) for the cases where the anomalous terms contribute (i.e. n+m=0), the above algebra coincides with two copies of commuting Virasoros. On the other hand for $n+m \neq 0$ it agrees with the Virasoro-Kac-Moody algebra. The reason we chose this algebra is because it appears naturally from gravity where the Killing vectors of the metric yield the classical U(1) contribution to the commutators, while the quantum anomalies of the associated charges make it look like a Virasoro. Notice that if we had picked the Sugawara representation, classical looking terms in the commutators appear as a consequence of the anomalous U(1) current contribution and can't be associated with the algebra of Killing vectors. Let us now analyze this case along the lines of sections 2 and 3. Consider the infinitesimal tilt,

$$\delta x^+ = -\frac{\delta \gamma}{2} x^- . \tag{57}$$

The zero modes transform as

$$\delta \tilde{L}_0 = 0 , \qquad \delta \tilde{P}_0 = \tilde{P}_0 \delta \gamma \tag{58}$$

Note that the anomaly in $[\tilde{L}_n, \tilde{P}_m]$ has completely canceled the classical term, leaving \tilde{L}_0 invariant under U(1) transformations. If we also include the rescaling $\phi' = \lambda \phi$, the generators of translations transform as:

$$\tilde{Q}[\partial_{+'}] = e^{\gamma} \tilde{Q}[\partial_{+}] , \qquad \tilde{Q}[\partial_{-'}] = \frac{Q[\partial_{-}]}{\lambda} .$$
(59)

This is analogous to equation (22), modified to include a charge-dependent level. It differs in an important way: under a shift in x^+ , the charge \tilde{P}_0 is rescaled. Unlike (22), this does not take the form of a simple tensor transformation plus anomalous shifts. This means that we must be careful in how we interpret coordinate transformations in this theory, as the anomaly plays a crucial role. In fact, the (active) finite transformation of \tilde{P}_0 mimics the (passive) coordinate transformation $t \to e^{\gamma}t$. We will see that this second scaling leads to CFT-like behavior of the partition function.

Now consider the theory at finite temperature in the ensemble

$$Z(\beta_L, \beta_R) = \operatorname{Tr} \, e^{-\beta_L P_0 - \beta_R L_0} \,, \tag{60}$$

on the circle

$$(x^+, x^-) \sim (x^+ + 2\pi, x^- + 2\pi).$$
 (61)

Notice that the identification on the circle is implemented by the operator $e^{2\pi i(\tilde{P}_0+\tilde{L}_0)}$ which, in terms of the original charges (7-8) is nothing else than $e^{2\pi i L_0}$. We are considering the same circle. The ensemble is different, however, as in terms of the original charges

$$Z = \text{Tr } \exp\left[-\beta_L\left(\frac{P_0^2}{k}\right) - \beta_R\left(L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k}\right)\right] \,. \tag{62}$$

We would like to repeat the steps of section 3 leading to the entropy formula, taking care of the anomaly. The answer should be the same, because the microcanonical entropy does not depend on a choice of ensemble, but this derivation will be valid where the previous one was not, including when L_0 is not bounded below. The strategy, phrased in operator language, is to find a symmetry transformation that turns the initial evolution operator in (60) into an angular generator of length 2π . Then, the old angular generator is used as the new evolution operator. The first step is achieved by choosing

$$\lambda = -\frac{2\pi i}{\beta_R} , \qquad e^{-\gamma} = -\frac{2\pi i}{\beta_L} . \tag{63}$$

Now the generator that enforces the angular identification, integrated over the (original) thermal circle becomes the evolution operator

$$e^{-\frac{4\pi^2}{\beta_L}\tilde{P}_0 - \frac{4\pi^2}{\beta_R}\tilde{L}_0}.$$
 (64)

Therefore, the partition function can be rewritten on the transformed torus as

$$Z(\beta_L, \beta_R) = Z(\frac{4\pi^2}{\beta_L}, \frac{4\pi^2}{\beta_R}).$$
(65)

This result is exactly as one would have obtained in the usual CFT case! Notice however that all currents are right moving in this theory and the classical algebra contains a Kac-Moody part instead of a left moving Virasoro.

To finalize the argument and as before, we can take the small $\beta_{R,L}$ limit and project the right hand side of (65) onto the vacuum state,

$$Z(\beta_L, \beta_R) \approx \exp\left(-\frac{4\pi^2}{\beta_L}\tilde{P}_0^{vac} - \frac{4\pi^2}{\beta_R}\tilde{L}_0^{vac}\right) \ . \tag{66}$$

From this expression the entropy can be calculated and the Cardy result can be obtained

$$S = -8\pi^2 \left(\frac{\tilde{P}_0^{vac}}{\beta_L} + \frac{\tilde{L}_0^{vac}}{\beta_R} \right) \,. \tag{67}$$

In terms of charges this is:

$$S = 4\pi \sqrt{-\tilde{P}_0^{vac}\tilde{P}_0} + 4\pi \sqrt{-\tilde{L}_0^{vac}\tilde{L}_0} \,. \tag{68}$$

This agrees with (47). This is to be expected, as the degeneracy of states in the Hilbert space is independent of the particular ensemble we are considering. Notice, however, that to project onto the vacuum we only need to have \tilde{L}_0 and \tilde{P}_0 bounded below. Therefore, this derivation applies to cases where the L_0 operator considered in the previous section is unbounded. We will see this is the case in the gravitational theory.

Finally, let us conclude this section with the following remark. It is inevitable to notice the similarity of (68) and the usual Cardy formula. In order to make this concrete we define the following quantities:

$$c_R = -24\tilde{L}_0^{vac}, \qquad c_L = -24\tilde{P}_0^{vac}, \tag{69}$$

so we recover the familiar form

$$S = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c_L}{6}\tilde{P}_0} + 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c_R}{6}\tilde{L}_0}.$$
(70)

In terms of the vacuum values of the charges L_0 and P_0 displayed in (31) we obtain

$$c_R = c, \qquad c_L = -24 \frac{q^2}{k}.$$
 (71)

Notice that while c_R is connected with the actual central charge of the algebra, c_L is just the amount of spectral flow.⁵ In the next section we'll find that c_L and c_R are precisely the parameters one naturally finds in gravitational theories with warped black hole solutions.

5 A holographic example: Topologically Massive Gravity

The action of topologically massive gravity (TMG) in three dimensions is [50, 51]

$$S_{TMG} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int d^3x \sqrt{-g} (R+2) - \frac{1}{96\pi\nu} \int d^3x \sqrt{-g} \epsilon^{\lambda\mu\nu} \Gamma^r_{\lambda\sigma} \left(\partial_\mu \Gamma^\sigma_{r\nu} + \frac{2}{3} \Gamma^\sigma_{\mu\tau} \Gamma^r_{\nu r} \right) .$$
(72)

Any solution of Einstein gravity is also a solution of TMG, but the gravitational Chern-Simons term allows for interesting new classes of solutions. These include warped AdS (WAdS) and associated 'warped black holes.' Warping is a deformation that changes the asymptotics and reduces the isometry group to $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$, so these backgrounds do not fall under the usual AdS/CFT correspondence. The boundary conditions can be chosen so that the symmetries enhance to Virasoro plus a U(1) Kac-Moody algebra generating diffeomorphisms near the boundary in the sense of Brown and Henneaux, suggesting that the holographic dual is a warped CFT.

Warped CFTs with a microscopic field theory definition are not known except in some limiting cases, so potential holographic examples are a good testing ground for the technology developed above. In this section we will show that warped CFT reproduces the thermodynamics of the warped black holes. Under the assumption that the dual theory exists and has a spectrum that satisfies a property analogous to the gap condition in AdS/CFT, the density of states in the QFT accounts for the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the warped black holes.

⁵It is true, however, that once a current algebra is found, one can build a twisted energy momentum tensor through the Sugawara construction. In this case the twisting can shift the vacuum value of the zero mode while changing the central charge of the algebra. It is then a matter of choice whether c_L appears or not in the algebra of generators. The entropy formula (70) is, of course, invariant under this twisting.

5.1 Warped AdS

We take $\nu > 0$, and generally follow the notation and terminology of [34].⁶ Several solutions of TMG with $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$ local isometries are of interest to us:

Global spacelike WAdS

The metric is

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{\nu^{2} + 3} \left[-\cosh^{2} \sigma d\tau^{2} + d\sigma^{2} + \frac{4\nu^{2}}{\nu^{2} + 3} (du + \sinh \sigma d\tau)^{2} \right] , \qquad (73)$$

with the coordinates unrestricted. When $\nu = 1$, the isometries enhance to $SL(2, R) \times SL(2, R)$, and this becomes AdS₃ written as a Hopf fibration over AdS₂. Generally, the fiber is warped; for $\nu < 1$ it is squashed, and for $\nu > 1$ it is stretched. All four isometries are globally preserved and the spacetime is geodesically complete [52].

Timelike WAdS

This can be written in similar global coordinates by taking $u \to i\tau$, $\tau \to iu$, or as

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r((\nu^{2}+3)r+4)} - 2\nu r dt d\phi + \frac{r}{4}(3(1-\nu^{2})r+4)d\phi^{2}, \qquad (74)$$

with $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$. These coordinates cover the global spacetime. For $\nu > 1$, there are closed timelike curves at large r.

Poincaré spacelike WAdS

The metric is

$$ds^{2} = dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}(\nu^{2}+3)} - 2\nu r dt d\phi + \frac{3}{4}(\nu^{2}-1)r^{2}d\phi^{2}$$
(75)

with ϕ unidentified. This covers a patch of the global spacetime (73).

Spacelike stretched black holes

Finally, for $\nu > 1$ there are the warped black holes. These are locally spacelike stretched WAdS (73), but differ globally by an identification that breaks the isometries to $U(1) \times U(1)$. Thus these are the warped analogues of the BTZ black holes in AdS₃. The metric in

⁶The sign convention for the CS action in (72) has been flipped compared to [34]. Our choice leads to $L_0 = +Q[\partial_{\phi}]$ below, allowing for a simpler comparison to the WCFT.

Schwarzschild coordinates is

$$ds^{2} = dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{(\nu^{2} + 3)(r - r_{+})(r - r_{-})} - \left(2\nu r - \sqrt{r_{+}r_{-}(\nu^{2} + 3)}\right) dt d\phi$$

$$+ \frac{r}{4} \left(3(\nu^{2} - 1)r + (\nu^{2} + 3)(r_{+} + r_{-}) - 4\nu\sqrt{r_{+}r_{-}(\nu^{2} + 3)}\right) d\phi^{2}$$
(76)

where $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$. When $r_+ = r_- = 0$, the charges vanish and this becomes an identification of Poincaré WAdS.

5.2 Asymptotic symmetries and thermodynamics

It is possible to impose boundary conditions in WAdS that allow for a right-moving Virasoro algebra or a left-moving Virasoro algebra in the asymptotic symmetries, but no consistent boundary conditions have been found that allow two Virasoro algebras simultaneously. We will impose the boundary conditions of [35], which extend $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$ to a Virasoro-Kac-Moody U(1) algebra. Let us emphasize that this is a choice that defines the theory under consideration, and there may be other consistent choices with different interpretations.

The generators of asymptotic diffeomorphisms allowed by the boundary conditions are [35]

$$\zeta_n = e^{in\phi}\partial_{\phi} - inre^{in\phi}\partial_r$$

$$\chi_n = e^{in\phi}\partial_t .$$
(77)

These satisfy the Lie bracket algebra

$$i[\zeta_n , \zeta_m]_{\text{Lie}} = (n-m)\zeta_{n+m} , \qquad i[\zeta_n , \chi_m]_{\text{Lie}} = -m\chi_{n+m} .$$
 (78)

The corresponding charges (see appendix B),

$$L_n = Q[\zeta_n] , \qquad P_n = Q[\chi_n] , \qquad (79)$$

satisfy the Virasoro-Kac-Moody U(1) algebra (7) under Dirac brackets, with central extensions

$$c = \frac{5\nu^2 + 3}{\nu(\nu^2 + 3)}, \qquad k = -\frac{\nu^2 + 3}{6\nu}.$$
(80)

By rescaling t one can also rescale the level k, but charges are rescaled accordingly so that expressions of the form PP/k are unchanged.

The charges and thermodynamics of the black hole take a simple form expressed in terms of c, k, and the parameters

$$T_L = \frac{\nu^2 + 3}{8\pi} \left(r_+ + r_- - \frac{1}{\nu} \sqrt{r_+ r_- (\nu^2 + 3)} \right)$$
(81)

$$T_R = \frac{\nu^2 + 3}{8\pi} \left(r_+ - r_- \right) \ . \tag{82}$$

For now, these are just useful parameterizations of the black hole and have no obvious interpretation as temperatures. The black hole mass \mathcal{M} and angular momentum \mathcal{L} , including contributions from the Chern-Simons term, are

$$\mathcal{M} := Q[\partial_t] = \frac{\pi}{3} T_L$$

$$\mathcal{L} := -Q[\partial_\phi] = -\frac{1}{k} \mathcal{M}^2 - \frac{\pi^2}{6} c T_R^2 .$$
(83)

The inverse Hawking temperature and angular potential are

$$\beta = -\frac{2\pi}{3k} (1 + T_L/T_R)$$

$$\beta \Omega = 1/T_R .$$
(84)

The black hole entropy (which also includes a Chern-Simons contribution) is

$$S_{bh} = \frac{\pi}{3\Omega} + \frac{\pi^2}{3\beta\Omega} \left(c + \frac{2}{3k}\right) \,. \tag{85}$$

In the microcanonical ensemble,

$$S_{bh} = -\frac{2\pi}{3k}\mathcal{M} + 2\pi\sqrt{\frac{c}{6}\left(-\mathcal{L} - \frac{\mathcal{M}^2}{k}\right)} .$$
(86)

In the rest of this section, the goal is to reproduce this formula from warped CFT.

5.3 The ensemble

To compare the black hole thermodynamics to a warped CFT, we must decide what ensemble to use. In other words, what is the black hole dual to? The answer should be a thermal state, but different types of thermal states were considered in sections 3 and 4. Charge-dependent coordinate changes suggest different ensembles, since nonlinear redefinitions of the charges lead to inequivalent partition functions.

In the bulk, the thermal properties of the black hole are summarized by the complex coordinate identifications

$$(t,\phi) \sim (t+i\beta,\phi+i\beta\Omega)$$
 (87)

The zero modes of the algebra are

$$P_0 = \mathcal{M} , \qquad L_0 = -\mathcal{L} , \qquad (88)$$

so this suggests the thermal ensemble studied in section (3), tr $e^{-\beta P_0 + i\theta L_0}$. However this is problematic since L_0 is not bounded below, and we will argue for a different interpretation.

To derive the ensemble, we can use the fact that different black holes are related to each other by a coordinate transformation. To clarify the logic, we first review the analogous argument for BTZ black holes in the AdS_3/CFT_2 correspondence, made in [53]: The coordinate transformation from Poincaré AdS_3 to the BTZ black hole is $w^{\pm} \sim e^{2\pi T_{\pm}(\phi \pm t)}$ near the boundary. The thermal identification on t, ϕ is trivial in the w^{\pm} plane, so the black hole corresponds to the Minkowski vacuum in w^{\pm} coordinates. The exponential coordinate transformation covers the Rindler wedge, producing a thermal state in t, ϕ coordinates; therefore, the black hole is dual to a thermal ensemble tr $e^{-\beta \mathcal{M} - \beta \Omega \mathcal{L}}$.

Now we return to the warped black holes and repeat the same steps. Starting with coordinates (t, r, ϕ) on the warped black hole (76), let

$$r' = \sqrt{(r - r_{+})(r - r_{-})}e^{2\pi T_{R}\phi}$$

$$\phi' = \frac{2}{3 + \nu^{2}} \frac{r_{+} + r_{-} - 2r}{(r_{+} - r_{-})\sqrt{(r - r_{+})(r - r_{-})}}e^{-2\pi T_{R}\phi}$$

$$t' = t + \frac{2}{k}\mathcal{M}\phi + \frac{\nu}{3 + \nu^{2}}\log\left(\frac{r - r_{+}}{r - r_{-}}\right) .$$
(89)

The metric in the primed coordinates is Poincaré WAdS (75), i.e., the $L_0 = P_0 = 0$ black hole. Near the boundary, this coordinate transformation that creates a black hole is

$$\phi' = -\frac{1}{2\pi T_R} e^{-2\pi T_R \phi} + O(1/r^2)$$
(90)
$$t' = t + \frac{2}{k} \mathcal{M} \phi + O(1/r) .$$

The energy and angular momentum measured in ϕ, t coordinates come from anomalous transformations of L_0 and P_0 . Applying (19) with $\alpha = \mathcal{M}/k$, the anomalies produce

$$L_0 = \frac{c}{6}\pi^2 T_R^2 + k\alpha^2 = -\mathcal{L}$$
(91)

$$P_0 = k\alpha = \mathcal{M} \tag{92}$$

in agreement with (83).

In the t', ϕ' plane, the thermal identification (87) acts as

$$(t', \phi') \sim (t' + i\beta_0, \phi')$$
 (93)

where

$$\beta_0 = -\frac{2\pi}{3k} \ . \tag{94}$$

From this we conclude that the black hole ensemble is defined by starting in the plane at temperature β_0 , and performing the coordinate change (90). To understand the resulting

state, define

$$\phi'' = -\frac{1}{2\pi T_R} e^{-2\pi T_R \phi} , \quad t'' = \frac{1}{2\pi T_L} \exp\left(2\pi T_L\left(\frac{k}{2\mathcal{M}}t + \phi\right)\right) . \tag{95}$$

The black hole corresponds to the Minkowski vacuum in the ϕ'', t'' plane. The exponential coordinate changes are just the usual map to Rindler space, so this produces a thermal state, but the appearance of \mathcal{M} in the transformation means that t is an inconvenient coordinate to define the ensemble. In terms of the more natural coordinates

$$t_R = \phi, \qquad t_L = \frac{k}{2\mathcal{M}}t + \phi , \qquad (96)$$

the exponential map turns on temperatures $T_{L,R}$ conjugate to the charges $Q[\partial_{L,R}]$. The infinitesimal charges obey

$$\delta Q[\partial_L] = \frac{2\mathcal{M}}{k} \delta \mathcal{M}, \qquad \delta Q[\partial_R] = -\delta \mathcal{L} - \frac{2\mathcal{M}}{k} \delta \mathcal{M} .$$
⁽⁹⁷⁾

Integrating,

$$Q[\partial_L] = \frac{P_0^2}{k} , \qquad Q[\partial_R] = L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k} .$$
(98)

Therefore, the black hole is dual to the thermal ensemble

$$Z_{bh} = \text{Tr } \exp\left[-\beta_R \left(L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k}\right) - \beta_L \frac{P_0^2}{k}\right] .$$
(99)

This is the quadratic ensemble studied in field theory terms in section 4, with

$$\beta_{L,R} = T_{L,R}^{-1} \ . \tag{100}$$

5.4 BTZ-like coordinates

The coordinates $t_{L,R}$ that appeared naturally in the derivation of the ensemble are actually coordinates on a deformed BTZ black hole. Define new coordinates (t_b, ϕ_b, r_b) by

$$\phi_b - \frac{t_b}{\ell_b} = t_R = \phi$$

$$\phi_b + \frac{t_b}{\ell_b} = t_L = \frac{k}{2\mathcal{M}}t + \phi$$

$$r_b^2 = 3\mathcal{M}\left(2r - \frac{1}{\nu}\sqrt{r_+r_-(\nu^2 + 3)}\right) + 4\ell_b J_{\text{BTZ}}$$
(101)

where $J_{\rm BTZ}$ is defined below and

$$\ell_b^2 = \frac{4}{3+\nu^2} \ . \tag{102}$$

The resulting metric can be written in the form

$$ds^{2} = ds^{2}_{BTZ} + \frac{1}{48}(\nu^{2} - 1)\xi_{\mu}\xi_{\nu}dx^{\mu}_{b}dx^{\nu}_{b} . \qquad (103)$$

The first term here is the BTZ black hole in AdS_3 of radius ℓ_b ,

$$ds_{BTZ}^2 = \left(8M_{BTZ} - \frac{r_b^2}{\ell_b^2}\right)dt_b^2 + \frac{dr_b^2}{-8M_{BTZ} + \frac{r_b^2}{\ell_b^2} + \frac{16J_{BTZ}^2}{r_b^2}} - 8J_{BTZ}dt_bd\phi_b + r_b^2d\phi_b^2 , \quad (104)$$

where the BTZ mass and angular momentum are related to the warped black hole parameters by

$$\mathcal{M} = \frac{1}{6} \sqrt{8(M_{BTZ} - J_{BTZ}/\ell_b)}$$
(105)
$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{M_{BTZ}}{3\nu} - \frac{1+3\nu^2}{\nu(\nu^2+3)} \frac{J_{BTZ}}{\ell_b} .$$

The second term in (103) is a deformation by the Killing vector

$$\xi = \frac{1}{\mathcal{M}} \left(\ell_b \partial_{t_b} + \partial_{\phi_b} \right) , \qquad (106)$$

with the index on ξ^{μ} lowered using the undeformed BTZ metric. These coordinates have the advantage that the ensemble is defined with potentials conjugate to ∂_{t_b} and ∂_{ϕ_b} . However, they have the disadvantage that the leading asymptotics of the metric are \mathcal{M} -dependent, for instance for $J_{BTZ} = 0$,

$$\frac{4}{3(\nu^2 - 1)}(ds^2 - ds^2_{BTZ}) = \frac{(r_b^2 - 8\ell_b^2 M_{BTZ})^2}{8\ell_b^2 M_{BTZ}}dt_b^2 + 2\ell_b(r_b^2 - \frac{r_b^4}{8\ell_b^2 M_{BTZ}})dt_b d\phi_b + \frac{r_b^4}{8M_{BTZ}}d\phi_b^2.$$
(107)

This complicates the task of defining charges and computing asymptotic symmetries as compared to Schwarzschild coordinates, but the result is simply given by the map (55).

5.5 Entropy from warped CFT

Finally, we are ready to compare the entropy of warped CFT to the black hole entropy (86). The warped CFT entropy formula (47) requires the charges of the 'ground state', so we must identify the appropriate state in TMG. The choice of the quadratic ensemble does not affect the microcanonical formula for the entropy, but it means that the ground state is defined by minimizing the shifted charge $L_0 - \frac{P_0^2}{k}$.

As described in section 2, we expect the ground state to have global isometries $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$ and charges

$$P_0^{vac} = q , \qquad L_0^{vac} = -\frac{c}{24} + \frac{q^2}{k} , \qquad (108)$$

where the vacuum charge q (or rather the invariant combination q^2/k) is a parameter of the theory. Therefore we seek a smooth solution of TMG with these properties. Given the relation to the BTZ black hole described above, a natural guess for the ground state is to take the deformation of global AdS rather than BTZ. The global AdS metric is ds_{BTZ}^2 with $M_{BTZ} = -\frac{1}{8}, J_{BTZ} = 0$. Plugging this into (105) indeed gives the relations (108) with

$$q_{TMG} = \mathcal{M}^{vac} = -\frac{i}{6} , \quad L_0^{vac} = -\mathcal{L}^{vac} = -\frac{c}{24} - \frac{1}{36k} .$$
 (109)

Furthermore, the full metric (103) is smooth for this value of the parameters — in fact, it is timelike warped AdS (74) — and minimizes $L_0 - P_0^2/k$ among known smooth solutions. Therefore this is the ground state. Plugging into the entropy formula (47) and comparing to (86), we find

$$S_{bh} = S_{wcft} . (110)$$

Some comments are in order. In the original (t, r, ϕ) coordinates, the warped black hole metric is complex in the ground state (109), which corresponds to

$$r_{+} = -\frac{4i}{3+\nu^2} , \quad r_{-} = 0 .$$
 (111)

Nonetheless it has a natural interpretation: continuing $r \to ir$, $t \to -it$ gives the global timelike warped AdS metric (74). The complex metric in (t, r, ϕ) coordinates reflects the \mathcal{M} dependent rescalings necessary to define the ensemble and change to BTZ-like coordinates. In BTZ-like coordinates the metric remains real everywhere in phase space. The fact that the vacuum has complex P_0 is related to the appearance of closed timelike curves (CTCs) in the bulk. This matches nicely with the discussion in section 2.3 and indicates the theory is not unitary. This is, however, exactly what is needed to match the entropy.

The warped CFT entropy was derived in the limit $\theta \to 0$, but correctly matches the classical entropy for arbitrary black holes. This implies that the spectrum of a warped CFT dual to TMG must be special, to ensure that the entropy formula applies outside its generic regime of validity. This is analogous to the fact that in AdS₃/CFT₂, the Cardy formula matches the black hole entropy even for black holes well outside the generic Cardy regime (see [54] for a discussion). In string theory realizations, this is achieved by having a large gap in operator dimensions in the CFT. A similar condition is sufficient in the warped case.

6 An example in string theory

We now turn to an embedding of warped black holes in string theory. Using a series of transformations that relate this solution to an ordinary BTZ black hole, it was argued in [43, 44] (see also [55, 41, 56]) that the dual field theory is the IR limit of the dipole-deformed D1-D5 field theory. In principle, this defines the dual theory, but in practice, little is known

about the IR limit after the dipole deformation. We will take a complementary approach, using the symmetries to motivate the conjecture that the warped black holes in string theory have a warped CFT description. As evidence for this conjecture, we show that the density of states in warped CFT reproduces the entropy of the warped black holes. There are some peculiar features to this construction that we will not attempt to address — the black hole has closed timelike curves unless the angle is unwrapped, and for related reasons the interpretation of what states are being counted is unclear — so this should not be considered a full microscopic derivation of the entropy, but it is nonetheless suggestive.

6.1 Lightlike dipole background

The bulk theory is a consistent truncation of IIB supergravity to six dimensions with four scalars and two 2-forms [57]. With a constant dilaton, and three scalars that play no role in our discussion set to zero, the relevant part of the action is

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int d^6 x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - \frac{1}{12} e^{-2\phi} H^2 - \frac{1}{12} F^2 \right) , \qquad (112)$$

with 3-form field strengths H = dB, F = dA. We will focus on the finite-temperature lightlike dipole background (following the notation in [43]),

$$e^{\phi}ds^{2} = \frac{T_{+}^{2}dy^{2}}{1+\lambda^{2}T_{+}^{2}} + \frac{2rdydt}{1+\lambda^{2}T_{+}^{2}} + dt^{2}\left(T_{-}^{2} - \frac{\lambda^{2}r^{2}}{1+\lambda^{2}T_{+}^{2}}\right)$$
(113)
$$+ \frac{dr^{2}}{4(r^{2} - T_{+}^{2}T_{-}^{2})} + \frac{1}{4(1+\lambda^{2}T_{+}^{2})}(d\psi + \cos\theta d\phi)^{2} + \frac{1}{4}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2})$$
$$B = \frac{\lambda}{2(1+\lambda^{2}T_{+}^{2})}(T_{+}^{2}dy + rdt) \wedge (d\psi + \cos\theta d\phi)$$
$$A = rdy \wedge dt + \frac{1}{4}\cos\theta d\psi \wedge d\phi$$
$$e^{-2\phi} = 1 + \lambda^{2}T_{+}^{2}.$$

This can be obtained from $BTZ \times S^3$ by performing a TsT transformation with shift λ . The metric is squashed AdS₃ times squashed S^3 . Defining

$$t = x + \tau, \quad y = x - \tau , \tag{114}$$

the angular identification of the original BTZ is along x. We previously limited ourselves to the stretched case $\nu > 1$ because squashed black holes have CTCs. Therefore in this case we will unwrap the circle and compute charges per unit length in the x-direction.

The inverse Hawking temperature β and angular velocity Ω are related to the parameters T_{\pm} by

$$T_{\pm} = \frac{\pi}{\beta(1\pm\Omega)} , \qquad (115)$$

and the entropy per unit length is

$$S = \frac{\pi^3}{\beta(1 - \Omega^2)} .$$
 (116)

The asymptotic symmetries include Virasoro + $\hat{U}(1)$ generated by

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_n &= e^{int} \left(\partial_t - inr \partial_r \right) \end{aligned} \tag{117}$$
$$\chi_n &= e^{int} \partial_y \;, \end{aligned}$$

with corresponding charges $\tilde{L}_n = Q[\zeta_n], \tilde{P}_n = Q[\chi_n]$, and zero modes

$$\tilde{L}_0 = \frac{\pi}{4} T_-^2 , \quad \tilde{P}_0 = -\frac{\pi}{4} T_+^2 .$$
(118)

The level and central charge, computed by the standard method, are

$$c = \frac{3\pi}{2}$$
, $\tilde{k} = -\pi T_+^2$. (119)

Note that we have set $\ell = G = 1$.

6.2 Entropy

The asymptotic algebra suggests that there is a warped CFT description. We will now show that the warped CFT can also be used to reproduce the entropy. In (119), \tilde{P}_0 appears on the right-hand side of the algebra, so the coordinates (113) are similar to the coordinates of section 5.4, where the leading terms in the metric include the charges. To eliminate this complication, define

$$u = t$$
, $v = T_+(y - t)$. (120)

In these coordinates, the algebra takes the standard form (7), with

$$k = -\pi$$
, $P_0 = -\frac{\pi}{2}T_+$, $L_0 = \tilde{L}_0 + \tilde{P}_0$. (121)

To derive the entropy from WCFT, we temporarily identify $x \sim x + 2\pi$ (later we can put the theory back on the plane; the same step would be necessary to derive the entropy of an ordinary CFT per unit length). The angular and thermal identifications are then

$$(u,v) \sim (u+2\pi,v) \sim (u+\theta+i\beta, v-2iT_+\beta)$$
(122)

where $\theta = -i\beta\Omega$. The shift in (120) was chosen so that the first identification acts only on the SL(2, R) coordinate, since this tilt was assumed in the derivation of the entropy formula in field theory. Applying the WCFT entropy formula (45) using the potentials in (122), we find

$$S = -\frac{8\pi^2}{\beta(1-\Omega)}L_0^{vac} + \frac{4\pi^2}{\beta(1-\Omega^2)}iP_0^{vac} .$$
 (123)

The correct bulk entropy (116) is obtained for

$$L_0^{vac} = 0 , \quad P_0^{vac} = -\frac{i}{4}\pi .$$
 (124)

The solution with these charges is the timelike vacuum, just as for TMG discussed in section 5. Therefore, assuming this geometry contributes to the partition function, the WCFT entropy formula agrees with the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy.

It is important to stress that (116) is obtained by calculating an entropy per unit length in a timelike direction (although it is spacelike in the original BTZ black hole before performing the TsT transformation). This is the same quantity that was reproduced from the ordinary Cardy formula in [44]. How such a quantity should be interpreted in terms of states in the quantum theory is unclear, so the imaginary charge and negative level that we encountered do not contradict unitarity.

7 Discussion

In this work we have studied two dimensional field theories that, while lacking Lorentz invariance, posses enough structure so that their global symmetries can be extended to an infinite dimensional local algebra [29]. We have shown that this algebra constrains the asymptotic density of states of these so called WCFTs in a similar fashion to the standard Cardy argument [2] for CFTs. The former theories have a form of modular invariance which can be used to obtain concise expressions for their entropy which resemble the well known Cardy formula. This is the main result of our work.

Given the lack of examples in a field theory context, we decided to turn to some known proposals for holographic duals. In this context, we used our result to explain the entropy of warped black holes in TMG. It is shown that the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy exactly matches our field theory prediction. It is worth mentioning that we are able to do this without invoking the presence of a hidden second Virasoro algebra. This gives some evidence that the dual field theory to this gravitational setup is a WCFT, while the more familiar CFT structure needs not be present.

In passing we have shown that it does not seem to be possible to have a fully consistent (i.e. unitary) quantum theory of gravity for the warped solutions of TMG with $\nu > 1$ and the standard choice of boundary conditions. While it is true that space-like stretched black hole solutions do not present CTCs, it seems one is forced to include the time-like deformed solutions in the spectrum if the symmetries of the theory are to be preserved. In this cases CTCs appear and unitarity is lost. This may explain why, in microscopic constructions, only squashed AdS has appeared.

We also studied the better behaved example of lightlike dipole deformed backgrounds in string theory. These solutions can be obtained by TsT transformations of the usual $AdS_3 \times S^3$ solution in Type IIB string theory and, therefore, have a consistent UV completion. The theory admits black string type solutions where the angular direction of the BTZ parent background is unwrapped. Nevertheless, a formula for the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy per unit length of these solutions is known and we show it agrees with the predictions of WCFT. Once again, no reference to a second hidden Virasoro algebra is needed to prove the result.

It is interesting to point out, nonetheless, that while WCFTs posses a Virasoro-Kac-Moody algebra, there is a sense in which the current mimics the presence of a second Virasoro algebra. It was shown in section 5.3 that the ensemble that naturally describes the gravitational setups leads us to a consider a nonlocal algebra, described in section 4, that shares some properties of a second scaling symmetry. Even more so, we can mention the following curious fact. Let us focus on the nonlocal U(1) algebra given by

$$[\tilde{P}_n, \tilde{P}_m] = 2n\tilde{P}_0\delta_{m+n}.$$
(125)

This algebra can be obtained by a nonlocal contraction of a Virasoro algebra. Let us define

$$\tilde{P}_0 = \epsilon^2 L_0, \qquad \tilde{P}_n = \epsilon L_n \quad \text{for} \quad n \neq 0.$$
 (126)

Then, the commutators (125) can be obtained from the Virasoro algebra by taking $\epsilon \to 0$.

There is, of course, another related way in which a second Virasoro algebra appears. This is simply by considering the Sugawara construction of Virasoro generators from a Kac-Moody algebra. At the level of zero modes, this is identical to our non-local algebra, but the full Sugawara generators seem difficult to realize as asymptotic symmetries. Furthermore, for a U(1) algebra this leads to a Virasoro central charge c = 1 (although this can be remedied by twisting, at the expense of adding a new free parameter [38]).

Whether any of these remarks is connected with the presence of a second hidden Virasoro algebra remains an open question, which is of particular interest for the understanding of the Kerr/CFT correspondence. Although we have not focused on this particular case, it is of clear interest to extend the ideas discussed in this work to the study of Kerr and other black holes. An interesting piece of information in this direction was mentioned in section 3. The near horizon extremal Kerr (or NHEK) geometry at fixed polar angle is warped AdS₃, but with the angular identification purely in the U(1) direction. This is a degenerate case where the spatial circle cannot be rotated to align with the SL(2, R) zero mode, so the results of section 3 do not apply directly. This case in TMG, known as the self-dual solution, is included in our entropy formula, but only as a limit where one temperature is taken to zero.

This line of thought could also be generalized to maximally rotating black holes in fourdimensional de Sitter space [58], whose near-horizon geometry contains a warped dS_3 factor instead of WAdS₃ but nevertheless exhibits a similar symmetry structure [59, 60].

More generally, every extremal black hole has $SL(2, R) \times U(1)$ isometries in the near horizon. This comes from the appearance of an AdS₂ factor; it would be interesting to compare our construction to gravity in AdS₂, along the lines of [61, 62, 63]. Even away from extremality, a large class of black holes in flat space have entropies that resemble the Cardy formula. This fact has been partially understood for Kerr from a hidden conformal symmetry in the linearized equations of motion [64], but without some notion of a modular transformation, the entropy remains a puzzle. Every black hole has a torus, of course, so the proliferation of Cardy-like entropy formulae hints that perhaps symmetries can be used to swap the thermal and angular cycles in other cases as well.

Another useful test of holographic dualities, especially because it can be applied without a microscopic definition of the field theory, is the comparison of scattering amplitudes [65] or quasinormal modes [66]. The scattering cross sections of various fields on Kerr black holes have been matched to a CFT [67] (see also the review [46]), but in the CFT approach this required adding a current algebra and imposing a constraint of the form $L_0 = J_0$. Similar analyses have been performed for the WAdS₃ [68, 69, 70, 71, 72] and WdS₃ black holes [73]. The symmetries of WCFT also constrain correlation functions [29], so it would be interesting to revisit these computations.

One interesting aspect of WCFTs is that they force us to consider $T(x^{-})$ and $P(x^{-})$ on equal footing. As mentioned in the introduction, maybe this is a toy example that might help us understand higher spin theories. If one is to understand the modular properties of partition functions of these more sophisticated theories this feature can not be overlooked.

Lastly let us comment on the importance of understanding the meaning of holography in other asymptotic spacetimes. While the most interesting cases are dS and flat space in higher dimensions, which are sure to be different, historically much has been learnt from the study of the very symmetric cases associated with two dimensional field theories. Hopefully, other structures as powerful as the one described here can be uncovered for other cases of interest.

Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to thank the Stanford Institute for Theoretical Physics and the Kavli Institute for Theoretical Physics where conversations got this work started, as well as the conference 'Cosmology and Complexity'. We have also benefitted greatly from discussions with Dionysios Anninos, Alejandra Castro, Monica Guica, Sean Hartnoll, Juan Maldacena, Gim-Seng Ng, Wei Song, and Philippe Spindel, and especially thank Andrew Strominger for discussions and for comments on a draft. D.M.H. would like to thank the Center for the Fundamental Laws of Nature at Harvard University for support. T.H. acknowledges support by the U.S. Department of Energy, grant DE-FG02-90ER40542, and the Corning Glass Works Foundation Fellowship Fund. S.D. acknowledges support from the Fundamental Laws Initiative, of the Center for the Fundamental Laws of Nature, Harvard University, and from Wallonie-Bruxelles International.

A Derivation of the Cardy Formula in Ordinary CFT

The Cardy formula is a universal result on the high-temperature density of states in an ordinary 2d CFT [2]. In this appendix, we review the derivation in the same Lorentzian language used in section 3. (See also [74] for a clear discussion on the role of vacuum charges in the Cardy formula.) The partition function is defined as

$$Z(\beta,\theta) = \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta H - i\theta J} = \operatorname{Tr} q^{L_0} \bar{q}^{\bar{L}_0} , \qquad (127)$$

where

$$q = e^{2\pi i\tau} , \quad 2\pi\tau = \theta + i\beta . \tag{128}$$

and $2\pi\bar{\tau} = \theta - i\beta$. Finite temperature correlators are periodic under

$$(t,\phi) \sim (t,\phi+2\pi) \sim (t+i\beta,\phi+\theta) .$$
(129)

Defining

$$x^{\pm} = \phi \pm t , \qquad (130)$$

the periodicities are

$$(x^+, x^-) \sim (x^+ + 2\pi, x^- + 2\pi) \sim (x^+ + 2\pi\tau, x^- + 2\pi\bar{\tau})$$
 (131)

In ordinary CFT, the symmetries allow independent rescalings of x^{\pm} . Therefore we seek a transformation of the form

$$x^+ \to \lambda_+ x^+$$
, $x^- \to \lambda_- x^-$ (132)

that interchanges the thermal and spatial cycles. This can be achieved by setting

$$\lambda_{+} = -1/\tau , \quad \lambda_{-} = -1/\bar{\tau} ,$$
 (133)

so that the new periodicities are

$$(x^+, x^-) \sim (x^+ + 2\pi\tau', x^- + 2\pi\bar{\tau}') \sim (x^+ - 2\pi, x^- - 2\pi)$$
(134)

with

$$\tau' = -1/\tau \ . \tag{135}$$

Therefore we have derived invariance of the partition function under the S modular transformation

$$Z(\tau, \bar{\tau}) = Z(-1/\tau, -1/\bar{\tau}) , \qquad (136)$$

or

$$Z(\beta,\theta) = Z\left(4\pi^2 \frac{\beta}{\theta^2 + \beta^2}, \ -4\pi^2 \frac{\theta}{\theta^2 + \beta^2}\right)$$
(137)

At high temperatures, this projects the trace onto the state of minimal H, ie the vacuum, so

$$Z(\beta,\theta) \approx \exp\left(-\frac{4\pi^2\beta}{\theta^2 + \beta^2}H_{vac} + \frac{4\pi^2\theta}{\theta^2 + \beta^2}iJ_{vac}\right) \,. \tag{138}$$

This implies the microcanonical entropy

$$S_{CFT} = 2\pi \sqrt{-(H_{vac} + J_{vac})(H+J)} + 2\pi \sqrt{-(H_{vac} - J_{vac})(H-J)} .$$
(139)

This is as far as we can go in a completely general CFT. (This version of the Cardy formula, written in terms of vacuum charges rather than central charges, has proved useful in holographic applications where the groundstate is not ordinary AdS_3 [75, 76].) In a unitary CFT, the unit operator on the plane provides the vacuum state on the cylinder, so we can compute the vacuum charges from the conformal transformation to the cylinder,

$$H_{vac} = L_0 + \bar{L}_0 = -\frac{c_L + c_R}{24} , \quad J_{vac} = L_0 - \bar{L}_0 = -\frac{c_L - c_R}{24} .$$
(140)

Plugging in gives the usual Cardy formula,

$$S_{CFT} = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c_L}{6}L_0} + 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c_R}{6}\bar{L}_0} .$$
 (141)

B Charges in Topologically Massive Gravity

In this appendix we collect formulae from [77, 78, 32, 35] for the conserved charges in topologically massive gravity. In the covariant formalism, the infinitesimal charge associated to an asymptotic Killing vector ζ is

$$\delta Q[\zeta] = \frac{1}{16\pi} \int k[\zeta; h, g] , \qquad (142)$$

integrated over the boundary of a fixed-time surface. Here $h_{\mu\nu} = \delta g_{\mu\nu}$ is a linearized solution to the equations of motion, and the integrand can be written

$$k[\zeta;h,g] = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho} \left(k_{grav}^{\mu\nu}[\zeta;h,g] + k_{cs}^{\mu\nu}[\zeta;h,g] \right) dx^{\rho} .$$
(143)

The Einstein contribution is

$$k_{grav}^{\mu\nu}[\zeta;h,g] = \zeta^{\nu}(D^{\mu}h - D_{\sigma}h^{\mu\sigma}) + \zeta_{\sigma}D^{\nu}h^{\mu\sigma} + \frac{1}{2}hD^{\nu}\zeta^{\mu}$$

$$-h^{\nu\sigma}D_{\sigma}\zeta^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}h^{\sigma\nu}(D^{\mu}\zeta_{\sigma} + D_{\sigma}\zeta^{\mu})$$
(144)

and the Chern-Simons term contributes

$$k_{cs}^{\mu\nu}[\zeta;h,g] = \frac{1}{3\nu} k_{grav}^{\mu\nu}[\eta;h,g] - \frac{1}{6\nu} \zeta_{\lambda} \left(2\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \delta(G^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}) - \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda} \delta G \right) + \frac{1}{6\nu} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left(\zeta_{\rho} h^{\lambda\sigma} G_{\sigma\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} h(\zeta_{\sigma} G^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} + \frac{1}{2} \zeta_{\rho} R) \right) , \qquad (145)$$

where $\eta^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} D_{\nu} \zeta_{\rho}$. (We have discarded a 'supplemental term' in the CS contribution [35] that vanishes for Killing vectors and does not contribute to any of the charges computed in this paper.) Finite charges are computed by integrating the variation (142) from one solution to another.

References

- J. Polchinski, "Scale And Conformal Invariance In Quantum Field Theory," Nucl. Phys. B 303, 226 (1988).
- J. L. Cardy, "Operator Content of Two-Dimensional Conformally Invariant Theories," Nucl. Phys. B 270, 186 (1986).
- [3] J. M. Maldacena, "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2, 231 (1998) [hep-th/9711200].

- [4] E. Witten, "Anti-de Sitter space and holography," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2, 253 (1998) [hep-th/9802150].
- [5] S. S. Gubser, I. R. Klebanov and A. M. Polyakov, "Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory," Phys. Lett. B 428, 105 (1998) [hep-th/9802109].
- [6] J. D. Brown and M. Henneaux, "Central Charges in the Canonical Realization of Asymptotic Symmetries: An Example from Three-Dimensional Gravity," Commun. Math. Phys. 104, 207 (1986).
- [7] A. Strominger, "Black hole entropy from near horizon microstates," JHEP 9802, 009 (1998) [hep-th/9712251].
- [8] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, "Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy," Phys. Lett. B 379, 99 (1996) [hep-th/9601029].
- J. M. Maldacena, A. Strominger and E. Witten, "Black hole entropy in M theory," JHEP 9712, 002 (1997) [hep-th/9711053].
- T. Banks, W. Fischler, S. H. Shenker and L. Susskind, "M theory as a matrix model: A Conjecture," Phys. Rev. D 55, 5112 (1997) [hep-th/9610043].
- [11] J. Polchinski, "S matrices from AdS space-time," hep-th/9901076.
- [12] G. Barnich and G. Compere, "Classical central extension for asymptotic symmetries at null infinity in three spacetime dimensions," Class. Quant. Grav. 24, F15 (2007) [gr-qc/0610130].
- [13] A. Bagchi, "The BMS/GCA correspondence," arXiv:1006.3354 [hep-th].
- [14] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, "Aspects of the BMS/CFT correspondence," JHEP 1005, 062 (2010) [arXiv:1001.1541 [hep-th]].
- [15] A. Bagchi and R. Fareghbal, "BMS/GCA Redux: Towards Flatspace Holography from Non-Relativistic Symmetries," arXiv:1203.5795 [hep-th].
- [16] A. Bagchi, S. Detournay and D. Grumiller, "Flat-Space Chiral Gravity," arXiv:1208.1658 [hep-th].
- [17] A. Bagchi, S. Detournay, R. Fareghbal and J. Simon, "Holography of 3d Flat Cosmological Horizons," arXiv:1208.4372 [hep-th].

- [18] G. Barnich, "Entropy of three-dimensional asymptotically flat cosmological solutions," arXiv:1208.4371 [hep-th].
- [19] S. Hawking, J. M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, "de Sitter entropy, quantum entanglement and AdS / CFT," JHEP 0105, 001 (2001) [hep-th/0002145].
- [20] A. Strominger, "The dS / CFT correspondence," JHEP 0110, 034 (2001) [hepth/0106113].
- [21] M. Alishahiha, A. Karch, E. Silverstein and D. Tong, "The dS/dS correspondence," AIP Conf. Proc. 743, 393 (2005) [hep-th/0407125].
- [22] X. Dong, B. Horn, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, "Micromanaging de Sitter holography," Class. Quant. Grav. 27, 245020 (2010) [arXiv:1005.5403 [hep-th]].
- [23] J. Maldacena, "Einstein Gravity from Conformal Gravity," arXiv:1105.5632 [hep-th].
- [24] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, "Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence," arXiv:1108.5735 [hep-th].
- [25] D. Anninos, S. A. Hartnoll and D. M. Hofman, "Static Patch Solipsism: Conformal Symmetry of the de Sitter Worldline," Class. Quant. Grav. 29, 075002 (2012) [arXiv:1109.4942 [hep-th]].
- [26] S. Kachru, X. Liu and M. Mulligan, "Gravity Duals of Lifshitz-like Fixed Points," Phys. Rev. D 78, 106005 (2008) [arXiv:0808.1725 [hep-th]].
- [27] H. A. Gonzalez, D. Tempo and R. Troncoso, "Field theories with anisotropic scaling in 2D, solitons and the microscopic entropy of asymptotically Lifshitz black holes," JHEP 1111, 066 (2011) [arXiv:1107.3647 [hep-th]].
- [28] L. Huijse, S. Sachdev and B. Swingle, "Hidden Fermi surfaces in compressible states of gauge-gravity duality," Phys. Rev. B 85, 035121 (2012) [arXiv:1112.0573 [condmat.str-el]].
- [29] D. M. Hofman and A. Strominger, "Chiral Scale and Conformal Invariance in 2D Quantum Field Theory," Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 161601 (2011) [arXiv:1107.2917 [hepth]].
- [30] Y. Nutku, "Exact solutions of topologically massive gravity with a cosmological constant," Class. Quant. Grav. 10, 2657 (1993).

- [31] M. Gürses, "Perfect fluid sources in 2+1 dimensions," Class. Quant. Grav. 11, 2585 (1994).
- [32] A. Bouchareb and G. Clement, "Black hole mass and angular momentum in topologically massive gravity," Class. Quant. Grav. 24, 5581 (2007) [arXiv:0706.0263 [gr-qc]].
- [33] K. A. Moussa, G. Clement and C. Leygnac, "The Black holes of topologically massive gravity," Class. Quant. Grav. 20, L277 (2003) [gr-qc/0303042].
- [34] D. Anninos, W. Li, M. Padi, W. Song and A. Strominger, "Warped AdS(3) Black Holes," JHEP 0903, 130 (2009) [arXiv:0807.3040 [hep-th]].
- [35] G. Compere and S. Detournay, "Semi-classical central charge in topologically massive gravity," Class. Quant. Grav. 26, 012001 (2009) [Erratum-ibid. 26, 139801 (2009)]
 [arXiv:0808.1911 [hep-th]].
- [36] M. Blagojevic and B. Cvetkovic, "Canonical structure of topologically massive gravity with a cosmological constant," JHEP **0905**, 073 (2009) [arXiv:0812.4742 [gr-qc]].
- [37] G. Compere and S. Detournay, "Boundary conditions for spacelike and timelike warped AdS₃ spaces in topologically massive gravity," JHEP 0908, 092 (2009) [arXiv:0906.1243 [hep-th]].
- [38] M. Blagojevic and B. Cvetkovic, "Asymptotic structure of topologically massive gravity in spacelike stretched AdS sector," JHEP **0909**, 006 (2009) [arXiv:0907.0950 [gr-qc]].
- [39] M. Henneaux, C. Martinez and R. Troncoso, "Asymptotically warped anti-de Sitter spacetimes in topologically massive gravity," Phys. Rev. D 84, 124016 (2011) [arXiv:1108.2841 [hep-th]].
- [40] S. Detournay, D. Israel, J. M. Lapan and M. Romo, "String Theory on Warped AdS₃ and Virasoro Resonances," JHEP **1101**, 030 (2011) [arXiv:1007.2781 [hep-th]].
- [41] T. Azeyanagi, D. M. Hofman, W. Song and A. Strominger, "The Spectrum of Strings on Warped $AdS_3 \times S^3$," arXiv:1207.5050 [hep-th].
- [42] M. Guica, "A Fefferman-Graham-Like Expansion for Null Warped AdS(3)," arXiv:1111.6978 [hep-th].
- [43] S. El-Showk and M. Guica, "Kerr/CFT, dipole theories and nonrelativistic CFTs," arXiv:1108.6091 [hep-th].

- [44] W. Song and A. Strominger, "Warped AdS3/Dipole-CFT Duality," JHEP 1205, 120 (2012) [arXiv:1109.0544 [hep-th]].
- [45] M. Guica, T. Hartman, W. Song and A. Strominger, "The Kerr/CFT Correspondence," Phys. Rev. D 80, 124008 (2009) [arXiv:0809.4266 [hep-th]].
- [46] G. Compere, "The Kerr/CFT correspondence and its extensions: a comprehensive review," arXiv:1203.3561 [hep-th].
- [47] P. Kraus and E. Perlmutter, "Partition functions of higher spin black holes and their CFT duals," JHEP 1111, 061 (2011) [arXiv:1108.2567 [hep-th]].
- [48] M. R. Gaberdiel, T. Hartman and K. Jin, "Higher Spin Black Holes from CFT," JHEP 1204, 103 (2012) [arXiv:1203.0015 [hep-th]].
- [49] P. Kraus and F. Larsen, "Partition functions and elliptic genera from supergravity," JHEP 0701, 002 (2007) [hep-th/0607138].
- [50] S. Deser, R. Jackiw and S. Templeton, "Three-Dimensional Massive Gauge Theories," Phys. Rev. Lett. 48, 975 (1982).
- [51] S. Deser, R. Jackiw and S. Templeton, "Topologically Massive Gauge Theories," Annals Phys. 140, 372 (1982) [Erratum-ibid. 185, 406 (1988)] [Annals Phys. 185, 406 (1988)]
 [Annals Phys. 281, 409 (2000)].
- [52] D. Anninos, M. Esole and M. Guica, "Stability of warped AdS(3) vacua of topologically massive gravity," JHEP 0910, 083 (2009) [arXiv:0905.2612 [hep-th]].
- [53] J. M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, "AdS(3) black holes and a stringy exclusion principle," JHEP 9812, 005 (1998) [hep-th/9804085].
- [54] C. A. Keller, "Phase transitions in symmetric orbifold CFTs and universality," JHEP 1103, 114 (2011) [arXiv:1101.4937 [hep-th]].
- [55] I. Bena, M. Guica and W. Song, "Un-twisting the NHEK with spectral flows," arXiv:1203.4227 [hep-th].
- [56] D. Anninos, "Hopfing and Puffing Warped Anti-de Sitter Space," JHEP 0909, 075 (2009) [arXiv:0809.2433 [hep-th]].
- [57] M. J. Duff, H. Lu and C. N. Pope, "AdS(3) x S**3 (un)twisted and squashed, and an O(2,2,Z) multiplet of dyonic strings," Nucl. Phys. B 544, 145 (1999) [hep-th/9807173].

- [58] D. Anninos and T. Hartman, "Holography at an Extremal De Sitter Horizon," JHEP 1003, 096 (2010) [arXiv:0910.4587 [hep-th]].
- [59] D. Anninos, "Sailing from Warped AdS(3) to Warped dS(3) in Topologically Massive Gravity," JHEP 1002, 046 (2010) [arXiv:0906.1819 [hep-th]].
- [60] D. Anninos, S. de Buyl and S. Detournay, "Holography For a De Sitter-Esque Geometry," JHEP 1105, 003 (2011) [arXiv:1102.3178 [hep-th]].
- [61] T. Hartman and A. Strominger, "Central Charge for AdS(2) Quantum Gravity," JHEP 0904, 026 (2009) [arXiv:0803.3621 [hep-th]].
- [62] A. Castro and F. Larsen, "Near Extremal Kerr Entropy from AdS(2) Quantum Gravity," JHEP 0912, 037 (2009) [arXiv:0908.1121 [hep-th]].
- [63] A. Castro, C. Keeler and F. Larsen, "Three Dimensional Origin of AdS₂ Quantum Gravity," JHEP 1007, 033 (2010) [arXiv:1004.0554 [hep-th]].
- [64] A. Castro, A. Maloney and A. Strominger, "Hidden Conformal Symmetry of the Kerr Black Hole," Phys. Rev. D 82, 024008 (2010) [arXiv:1004.0996 [hep-th]].
- [65] S. R. Das and S. D. Mathur, "Comparing decay rates for black holes and D-branes," Nucl. Phys. B 478, 561 (1996) [hep-th/9606185].
- [66] D. Birmingham, I. Sachs and S. N. Solodukhin, "Conformal field theory interpretation of black hole quasinormal modes," Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, 151301 (2002) [hepth/0112055].
- [67] I. Bredberg, T. Hartman, W. Song and A. Strominger, "Black Hole Superradiance From Kerr/CFT," JHEP 1004, 019 (2010) [arXiv:0907.3477 [hep-th]].
- [68] J. J. Oh and W. Kim, "Absorption Cross Section in Warped AdS(3) Black Hole," JHEP 0901, 067 (2009) [arXiv:0811.2632 [hep-th]].
- [69] H. -C. Kao and W. -Y. Wen, "Absorption cross section in warped AdS(3) black hole revisited," JHEP 0909, 102 (2009) [arXiv:0907.5555 [hep-th]].
- [70] B. Chen and Z. -b. Xu, "Quasi-normal modes of warped black holes and warped AdS/CFT correspondence," JHEP 0911, 091 (2009) [arXiv:0908.0057 [hep-th]].
- [71] B. Chen, B. Ning and Z. -b. Xu, "Real-time correlators in warped AdS/CFT correspondence," JHEP 1002, 031 (2010) [arXiv:0911.0167 [hep-th]].

- [72] W. Yao, S. Chen and J. Jing, "Quasinormal modes of a scalar perturbation coupling with Einstein's tensor in the warped AdS₃ black hole spacetime," Phys. Rev. D 83, 124018 (2011) [arXiv:1101.0042 [gr-qc]].
- [73] B. Chen, J. Zhang and J. Zhang, "Quasi-normal Modes and Hidden Conformal Symmetry of Warped dS₃ Black Hole," Phys. Rev. D 84, 124039 (2011) [arXiv:1110.3991 [hep-th]].
- [74] S. Carlip, "What we don't know about BTZ black hole entropy," Class. Quant. Grav. 15, 3609 (1998) [hep-th/9806026].
- [75] F. Correa, C. Martinez and R. Troncoso, "Scalar solitons and the microscopic entropy of hairy black holes in three dimensions," JHEP **1101**, 034 (2011) [arXiv:1010.1259 [hep-th]].
- [76] F. Correa, C. Martinez and R. Troncoso, "Hairy Black Hole Entropy and the Role of Solitons in Three Dimensions," JHEP **1202**, 136 (2012) [arXiv:1112.6198 [hep-th]].
- [77] L. F. Abbott and S. Deser, "Stability of Gravity with a Cosmological Constant," Nucl. Phys. B 195, 76 (1982).
- [78] V. Iyer and R. M. Wald, "Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy," Phys. Rev. D 50, 846 (1994) [gr-qc/9403028].